FORM 10-Q

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

(Mark One)

X

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2003

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _____to

Commission file number 1-12830

BioTime, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

California

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)

94-3127919

(IRS Employer Identification No.)

935 Pardee Street Berkeley, California 94710

(Address of principal executive offices)

(510) 845-9535

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

APPLICABLE ONLY TO CORPORATE ISSUERS:

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer's classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date. 13,654,949 common shares, no par value, as of August 14, 2003.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports of Form 8-K

SIGNATURES

Exhibit Index

Exhibit 31.1

Exhibit 32.1

PART 1—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Statements made in this Report that are not historical facts may constitute forward-looking statements that are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed. Such risks and uncertainties include but are not limited to those discussed in this report under Item 1 of the Notes to Financial Statements, and in BioTime's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Words such as "expects," "may," "will," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements.

Item 1. Financial Statements

BIOTIME, INC. (A Development Stage Company)

CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

	June 30, 2003 (unaudited)	December 31, 2002
ASSETS		
CURRENT ASSETS		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 650,395	\$ 1,284,432
Accounts Receivable	2,672	_
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	67,259	97,686
Total current assets	720,326	1,382,118
EQUIPMENT, net of accumulated depreciation of \$505,753 and \$478,396	75,356	102,713
DEPOSITS AND OTHER ASSETS	11,250	11,250
TOTAL ASSETS	\$ 806,932	\$ 1,496,081
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT		
CURRENT LIABILITIES:		
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	\$ 317,479	\$ 498,423
DEBENTURES, net of discount of \$1,100,165 and \$1,181,196	2,249,835	2,168,804
DEFERRED LICENSE REVENUES	435,938	· · · · —
SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT:		
Preferred Shares, no par value, undesignated as to Series, authorized 1,000,000 shares; none		
outstanding		_
Common Shares, no par value, authorized 40,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding		
13,654,949 and 13,490,101	32,855,710	32,374,883
Contributed Capital	93,972	93,972
Deficit accumulated during development stage	(35,146,002)	(33,640,001)
Total shareholders' deficit	(2,196,320)	(1,171,146)
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT	\$ 806,932	\$ 1,496,081

See notes to condensed financial statements.

BIOTIME, INC. (A Development Stage Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited)

	Three May	nths Ended	Six Mon June 30,	nths Ended June 30,	Period from Inception (November 30, 1990) to June 30,
	June 30, 2003	June 30, 2002	2003	2002	2003
REVENUE:					
License Fees	\$ 14,063	\$ —	\$ 14,063	\$ —	\$ 2,514,063
Royalties from product sales	83,234	60,812	179,856	118,047	736,906
Reimbursed regulatory fees				34,379	34,379
Total revenue	\$ 97,297	\$ 60,812	\$ 193,919	\$ 152,426	\$ 3,285,348
EXPENSES:					
Research and development	(211,604)	(343,473)	(436,140)	(638,423)	(23,170,148)
General and administrative	(378,567)	(290,627)	(716,335)	(622,034)	(15,462,221)
Total expenses	(590,171)	(634,100)	(1,152,475)	(1,260,457)	(38,632,369)
INTEREST EXPENSE	(264,319)	(215,349)	(486,882)	(387,014)	(1,596,410)
OTHER INCOME	4,841	5,456	21,957	5,456	1,904,780
Loss before income taxes	(752,352)	(783,181)	(1,423,481)	(1,489,589)	(35,038,651)
INCOME TAXES	(2,520)		(82,520)		(82,520)
NET LOSS	\$ (754,872)	\$ (783,181)	\$ (1,506,001)	\$ (1,489,589)	\$(35,121,171)
BASIC AND DILUTED					
LOSS PER SHARE	\$ (0.06)	\$ (0.07)	\$ (0.11)	\$ (0.13)	
COMMON EQUIVALENT SHARES USED IN COMPUTING PER SHARE AMOUNTS:					
BASIC AND DILUTED	13,598,038	11,637,316	13,580,838	11,630,845	

See notes to condensed financial statements.

BIOTIME, INC. (A Development Stage Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

	Six Months Ended June 30,		Period from Inception	
	2003	2002	(November 30, 1990) to June 30, 2003	
PERATING ACTIVITIES:				
let loss	\$(1,506,001)	\$(1,489,589)	\$(35,121,171)	
djustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:	(, , ,	· · · · /	, , , ,	
Depreciation	27,357	33,520	512,294	
Amortization of Debt Discount	320,760	196,856	990,280	
Cost of Donation — warrants	_	_	552,000	
Stock-based compensation	77,952	_	1,319,649	
hanges in operating assets and liabilities:				
Accounts Receivable	(2,672)	-	(2,672)	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	30,427	86,622	(67,260)	
Deposits and other assets	_	_	(11,250)	
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities	(104,694)	46,294	393,727	
Deferred revenue	435,938	_	435,938	
et cash used in operating activities	(720,933)	(1,151,457)	(30,998,465)	
et cash asea in operating activities				
VESTING ACTIVITIES:				
le of investments	_	-	197,400	
rchase of short-term investments	_	_	(9,946,203)	
demption of short-term investments	_	_	9,946,203	
rchase of equipment and furniture	_	_	(571,224)	
et cash used in investing activities			(373,824)	
et cash asca in investing activities				
NANCING ACTIVITIES:				
oceeds from issuance of warrants and debentures	_	_	2,350,000	
orrowings	_	_	1,000,000	
uance of preferred shares for cash			600,000	
eferred shares placement costs	_	_	(125,700)	
uance of common shares for cash	_		25,776,851	
ercise of Options	86,896	_	5,098,485	
mmon shares placement costs			(2,526,946)	
ntributed capital — cash	_	_	77,547	
vidends paid on preferred shares	_		(24,831)	
purchase Common Shares	_	_	(202,722)	
et cash provided by financing activities	86,896	_	32,022,684	
CREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH				
EQUIVALENTS	(634 037)	(1 151 457)	650,395	
ASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:	(634,037)	(1,151,457)	030,333	
beginning of period	1,284,432	1,652,748	_	
end of period	\$ 650,395	\$ 501,291	\$ 650,395	
	4			

BIOTIME, INC. (A Development Stage Company)

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited)

	Six Months Ended June 30,		Period from Inception (November 30, 1990)
	2003	2002	to June 30, 2003
NONCASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES:			
Issuance of common shares in exchange for shares of common stock of Cryomedical Sciences, Inc. in a stock-for-stock transaction	_	_	\$ 197,400
Conversion of Line of Credit to debentures	_	_	\$ 840,878
Issuance of warrants for private placement costs	_	\$163,583	\$ 163,583
Issuance of warrants related to debenture financing and Line of Credit agreement	\$239,729	\$ 60,390	\$2,150,835
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:			
Cash paid for interest	\$168,877	\$323,452	\$ 492,329
Cash paid for income taxes	\$ 82,520	_	\$ 82,520
See notes to condensed financial statements			(Concluded)
5			

BIOTIME, INC. (A Development Stage Company)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION

General - BioTime, Inc. (the Company) was organized November 30, 1990 as a California corporation. The Company is a biomedical organization, currently in the development stage, which is engaged in the research and development of synthetic plasma expanders, blood volume substitute solutions, and organ preservation solutions, for use in surgery, trauma care, organ transplant procedures, and other areas of medicine.

The condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2003, the condensed statements of operations and cash flows for the three months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002 and for the six months ended June 30, 2003 and 2002, and the period from inception (November 30, 1990) to June 30, 2003, have been prepared by the Company without audit. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations, and cash flows at June 30, 2003 and for all periods presented have been made. The balance sheet as of December 31, 2002 is derived from the Company's audited financial statements as of that date. The results of operations for the three months and six months ended June 30, 2003 are not necessarily indicative of the operating results anticipated for the full year.

Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted as permitted by regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain previously furnished amounts have been reclassified to conform with presentations made during the current periods. It is suggested that these interim condensed financial statements be read in conjunction with the annual audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company's Form 10-K/A-1 for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Development Stage Enterprise - Since inception, the Company has been engaged in research and development activities in connection with the development of synthetic plasma expanders, blood volume substitute solutions and organ preservation products. The Company has limited operating revenues and has incurred net losses of \$35,121,171 from inception to June 30, 2003. The successful completion of the Company's product development program and, ultimately, achieving profitable operations is dependent upon future events including maintaining adequate capital to finance its future development activities, obtaining regulatory approvals for the products it develops and achieving a level of revenues adequate to support the Company's cost structure.

The Company's operations are subject to a number of factors that can affect its operating results and financial condition. Such factors include but are not limited to the following: the results of clinical trials of the Company's products; the Company's ability to obtain United

States Food and Drug Administration and foreign regulatory approval to market its products; competition from products manufactured and sold or being developed by other companies; the price of and demand for Company products; the Company's ability to obtain additional financing and the terms of any such financing that may be obtained; the Company's ability to negotiate favorable licensing or other manufacturing and marketing agreements for its products; the availability of ingredients used in the Company's products; and the availability of reimbursement for the cost of the Company's products (and related treatment) from government health administration authorities, private health coverage insurers and other organizations.

Liquidity - At June 30, 2003, BioTime had \$650,395 of cash on hand, and has implemented cost savings and expenditure limitation measures. Included in cash on hand are proceeds from an upfront fee of approximately \$370,000, net of Korean taxes withheld, from a new licensing agreement signed in April. However, the Company needs additional capital and greater revenues to continue its current operations, to begin clinical trials of PentaLyte®, and to conduct its planned product development and research programs. Sales of additional equity securities could result in the dilution of the interests of present shareholders. The Company is also continuing to seek new agreements with pharmaceutical companies to provide product and technology licensing fees and royalties. The availability and terms of equity financing and new license agreements are uncertain. The unavailability or inadequacy of additional financing or future revenues to meet capital needs could force the Company to modify, curtail, delay, suspend, or possibly discontinue some or all aspects of its planned operations. In August 2004, debentures of \$3.35 million are payable by the Company. However, management believes its existing cash, along with license fees receivable, expected key man insurance proceeds (see Note 6), and anticipated royalties, is sufficient to allow the Company to operate through July 31, 2004.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Statement Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such management estimates include certain accruals. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue recognition - In April 1997, BioTime and Abbott Laboratories ("Abbott") entered into an Exclusive License Agreement (the "License Agreement") under which BioTime granted to Abbott an exclusive license to manufacture and sell BioTime's proprietary blood plasma volume expander solution Hextend® in the United States and Canada for certain therapeutic uses.

Under the License Agreement, Abbott paid the Company \$2,500,000 of license fees based upon achievement of specified milestones. Such fees were recognized as revenue as the milestones were achieved. Up to \$37,500,000 of additional license fees will be payable based upon annual net sales of Hextend at the rate of 10% of annual net sales if annual net sales exceed \$30,000,000 or 5% if annual net sales are between \$15,000,000 and

\$30,000,000. Abbott's obligation to pay license fees on sales of Hextend will expire on the earlier of January 1, 2007 or, on a country by country basis, when all patents protecting Hextend in the applicable country expire or any third party obtains certain regulatory approvals to market a generic equivalent product in that country.

In addition to the license fees, Abbott will pay the Company a royalty on annual net sales of Hextend. The royalty rate will be 5% plus an additional ..22% for each increment of \$1,000,000 of annual net sales, up to a maximum royalty rate of 36%. Abbott's obligation to pay royalties on sales of Hextend will expire in the United States or Canada when all patents protecting Hextend in the applicable country expire and any third party obtains certain regulatory approvals to market a generic equivalent product in that country.

The Company recognizes such revenues in the quarter in which the sales report is received, rather than the quarter in which the sales took place, as the Company does not have sufficient sales history to accurately predict quarterly sales. Revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2003 include royalties on sales made by Abbott during the three months ended March 31, 2003. Royalties on sales made during the second quarter of fiscal year 2003 will not be recognized by the Company until the third quarter of fiscal year 2003.

Abbott has agreed that the Company may convert Abbott's exclusive license to a non-exclusive license or may terminate the license outright if certain minimum sales and royalty payments are not met. In order to terminate the license outright, BioTime would pay a termination fee in an amount ranging from the milestone payments made by Abbott to an amount equal to three times prior year net sales, depending upon when termination occurs. Management believes that the probability of payments of any termination fee by the Company is remote.

During March 2003, BioTime granted to CJ Corp. ("CJ") an exclusive license to manufacture and sell Hextend and PentaLyte in South Korea (the "CJ Agreement"). Under the CJ Agreement, CJ agreed to pay the Company a license fee of \$800,000, payable in two installments. The first installment of \$500,000, less \$80,000 of Korean taxes withheld, was paid to the Company during April 2003. In connection with this agreement, the Company paid a finder's fee of \$50,000 to an unrelated third party. The license fee of \$500,000, net of the \$50,000 finder's fee, has been deferred and will be recognized as revenue over the life of the contract, which has been estimated to be approximately eight years based on the current expected life of the governing patent covering the Company's products in Korea. The remaining \$300,000 is payable to the Company within 30 days after an application for regulatory approval to manufacture and market Hextend is filed in Korea. In addition to the license fees, CJ will pay the Company a royalty on sales of the licensed products. The royalty will range from \$1.30 to \$2.60 per 500 ml unit of product sold, depending upon the price approved by Korea's National Health Insurance, but CJ Corp. will have to obtain regulatory approval before sales can begin. CJ will be responsible for obtaining the regulatory approvals required to manufacture and market Hextend and PentaLyte, including conducting any clinical trials that may be required, and will bear all related costs and expenses.

Indemnification – In November 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") issued FASB interpretation ("FIN") No. 45 "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others — an interpretation of FASB Statements No. 5, 57 and 107 and rescission of FIN 34." The following is a summary of the Company's agreements that the Company has determined are within the scope of FIN 45.

Under its bylaws, the Company has agreed to indemnify its officers and directors for certain events or occurrences arising as a result of the officer or director's serving in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer's or director's lifetime. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under the indemnification provisions contained in its bylaws is unlimited. However, the Company has a directors and officers liability insurance policy that limits its exposure and enables it to recover a portion of any future amounts paid. As a result of its insurance policy coverage, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal and has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of June 30, 2003.

Under the License Agreement and the CJ Agreement, BioTime shall indemnify Abbott and/or CJ for any cost or expense resulting from any third party claim or lawsuit arising from alleged patent infringement, as defined, by Abbott or CJ relating to actions covered by the License Agreement or the CJ Agreement, respectively. Management believes that the possibility of payments under the indemnification clauses by the Company is remote. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a provision for potential claims as of June 30, 2003.

The Company enters into indemnification provisions under (i) its agreements with other companies in its ordinary course of business, typically with business partners, licensees, contractors, hospitals at which clinical studies are conducted, and landlords and (ii) its agreements with investors, investment bankers and financial advisers. Under these provisions the Company generally indemnifies and holds harmless the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party as a result of the Company's activities or, in some cases, as a result of the indemnified party's activities under the agreement. These indemnification provisions often include indemnifications relating to representations made by the Company with regard to intellectual property rights. These indemnification provisions generally survive termination of the underlying agreement. In some cases, the Company has obtained liability insurance providing coverage that limits its exposure for indemnified matters. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification provisions is unlimited. The Company has not incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these indemnification agreements. As a result, the Company believes the estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. Accordingly, the Company has no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of June 30, 2003.

Comprehensive Loss - Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income," establishes standards for reporting and displaying comprehensive income and its components (revenues, expenses, gains, and losses) in a full

set of general-purpose financial statements. Comprehensive loss was the same as net loss for all periods presented.

Other recently issued accounting standards -

Costs associated with Exit or Disposal Activities - On July 30, 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities." SFAS No. 146 requires companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an exit or disposal plan. Examples of costs covered by the standard include lease termination costs and certain employee severance costs that are associated with a restructuring, discontinued operation, plant closing or other exit or disposal activity. SFAS No. 146 is to be applied prospectively to exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Adoption of SFAS No. 146 did not have a material impact on the financial statements.

Stock-based compensation - transition and disclosure - In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure," which amended SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." The new standard provides alternative methods of transition for a voluntary change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. Additionally, the statement amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosures in the annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. This statement is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002. The Company has elected to continue to follow the intrinsic value method in accounting for its stock-based employee compensation arrangement as defined by Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees."

Had compensation cost for employee options granted under the Company's option plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates, as prescribed in SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation," the Company's net loss and pro forma net loss per share would have been as follows:

	Three Months Ended June 30,		Six Months Ended June 30,	
	2003	2002	2003	2002
		A(700 101)	# (1 = 00 001)	#(1, 100 F00)
Net loss as reported	\$(754,872)	\$(783,181)	\$(1,506,001)	\$(1,489,589)
Deduct: Stock-based compensation determined under fair value method for awards, net of tax effects	(47,418)	(35,656)	(166,358)	(61,475)
Pro forma net loss	\$(802,290)	\$(818,837)	\$(1,672,359)	\$(1,551,064)
1 10 101111a Het 1055	\$(002,230)	\$(010,037)	\$(1,072,333)	\$(1,331,004)
		10		
		= *		

	Three Months Ended June 30,		Six Months	Ended June 30,
	2003	2002	2003	2002
Basic and diluted loss per common share as reported	\$(0.06)	\$(0.07)	\$(0.11)	\$(0.13)
Pro forma basic and diluted loss per common share	\$(0.06)	\$(0.07)	\$(0.12)	\$(0.13)

Consolidation of variable interest entities - In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46") which requires the consolidation of variable interest entities, as defined. FIN 46 is applicable to financial statements to be issued by the Company after 2002; however, disclosures are required currently if the Company expects to consolidate any variable interest entities. Adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on its financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS 150, "Accounting For Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities and Equity" which establishes standards for how an issuer of financial instruments classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances) if, at inception, the monetary value of the obligation is based solely or predominantly on a fixed monetary amount known at inception, variations in something other than the fair value of the issuer's equity shares or variations inversely related to changes in the fair value of the issuer's equity shares. SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 150 to have a material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

3. DEBENTURES

In August 2001, the Company issued \$3,350,000 of debentures to an investor group. As part of the \$3,350,000 debenture issuance, Alfred D. Kingsley, an investor and consultant to the Company, agreed to convert the \$1,000,000 outstanding balance under a one year Revolving Line of Credit Agreement (the "Credit Agreement") to \$1,000,000 of debentures and purchased an additional \$500,000 of debentures for cash. On the date of the conversion of the Credit Agreement to the debentures, the Credit Agreement was terminated, and no additional borrowings are available under that Credit Agreement. Interest on the debentures is payable at an annual rate of 10% and is payable semi-annually. The principal amount of the debentures is due on August 1, 2004. BioTime may prepay the debentures, in whole or in part, at any time without premium or penalty. Under the terms of the debentures, BioTime has agreed to restrict its quarterly cash payments for operating expenses to not more than \$450,000 (excluding interest payable on the debentures) plus the amount of cash revenue (excluding interest and dividends) it collects for the quarter. To the extent BioTime's expenditures during any quarter are less than \$450,000 over its revenues, it may expend the difference in one or more subsequent quarters. This spending restriction will expire when the

Company obtains at least \$5,000,000 in cash through sales of equity securities or pays off the debenture indebtedness in full. The Company has also agreed not to pay any cash dividends on or to redeem or repurchase any of its common shares outstanding until it has paid off the debentures in full.

Investors who purchased the debentures also received warrants to purchase a total of 515,385 common shares at an exercise price of \$6.50. The warrants expire on August 1, 2004. The total fair value of the warrants of \$1,596,124 was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: contractual life of 3 years; risk-free interest rate of 4.04%; volatility of 88%; and no dividends during the expected term. Of the \$3,350,000 of proceeds, \$1,596,124 and the unamortized portion (\$159,122) of the fair value of a warrant issued in connection with the Credit Agreement was allocated to the warrants. The portion of the proceeds allocated to the debentures is being accreted to interest expense over the term of the debentures using the effective interest rate method. The Company has the right to call the warrants for redemption at a redemption price of \$0.01 per share if the closing price of the Company's common shares equals or exceeds 150% of the exercise price for fifteen consecutive trading days.

During April 2003, holders of \$2,750,000 principal amount of the debentures granted BioTime a "pay in kind" right allowing (but not requiring) BioTime to make interest payments in common shares instead of cash for the interest payments due during August 2003 and February 2004 (the "PIK Right"). BioTime retained the right to pay the interest due in cash.

Each debenture holder who agreed to grant BioTime the PIK Right received a three-year warrant entitling the holder to purchase BioTime common shares for \$1.50 per share. The number of shares covered by the warrants is the amount of debenture interest due in August 2003 and February 2004 divided by the \$1.50 exercise price. In addition, Alfred Kingsley has agreed with BioTime that if BioTime exercises the PIK right he will provide BioTime with the cash required to pay the interest due on any debentures held by persons who did not grant BioTime the PIK Right. In consideration of his agreement to do so, BioTime issued to Mr. Kingsley a warrant for 39,999 additional common shares, which is the amount of warrants that would have been issued had the debenture holders who did not grant BioTime the PIK Right, instead agreed to do so. When Mr. Kingsley provides BioTime with the cash to pay the interest due, he will receive the number of shares that the debenture holders would have received had they accepted stock in lieu of cash interest payments. Warrants to purchase a total of 223,331 common shares were issued to participating debenture holders, including Alfred Kingsley.

The warrants will expire in three years and will not be exercisable thereafter. The warrants will be redeemable by BioTime at \$0.05 per warrant share if the closing price of the common shares on the American Stock Exchange exceeds 200% of the exercise price for 20 consecutive trading days.

The total fair value of the warrants of \$239,729 was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions: contractual life of 3 years; risk-free

interest rate of 2.0%; volatility of 79.87%; and no dividends during the expected term. The unamortized portion of the discount related to the debentures plus the fair value of the new warrants equals the new discount of \$1,280,965 as of the date the PIK Rights were issued. The Company is accreting this new discount to interest expense over the remaining term of the debentures using the effective interest rate method.

If BioTime actually elects to pay interest in stock instead of cash, the common shares issued on the interest payment date will be valued at the lower of (a) \$1.20 or (b) 80% of the average closing price of BioTime common shares on the AMEX for the 10 trading days prior to the interest payment date, but not less than \$0.80 per share.

BioTime granted registration rights for the warrants and shares on substantially the same terms as the registration rights covering the warrants issued when the debentures were originally sold. All prices and share amounts will be adjusted for any stock splits, reverse splits, recapitalization, or similar changes to the common shares.

4. SHAREHOLDERS' DEFICIT

Options to purchase 60,000 common shares were granted to consultants in 1999, and vest upon achievement of certain milestones. At June 30, 2003, 23,000 options had vested and 37,000 had not vested. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2003, remeasurement of the unvested options did not yield a change in their fair value. Accordingly, no expense was incurred during this period. At June 30, 2002, 5000 options had vested, and 55,000 options had not vested. During the three months ended June 30, 2002, the Company recorded a benefit of \$23,474 as a result of the remeasurement of such options. During the six months ended June 30, 2002, the Company recorded a benefit of \$55,161 as a result of the remeasurement of such options. The benefit recognized on these options during the three and six months ended June 30, 2002 was recorded as an offset to research and development expense.

During April 1998, the Company entered into a financial advisory services agreement with Greenbelt Corp., a corporation controlled by Alfred D. Kingsley and Gary K. Duberstein, who are also shareholders of the Company. The agreement has been renewed each year and expired on March 31, 2003. Under the Agreement, the Company issued to Greenbelt 40,000 common shares in four quarterly installments of 10,000 each for the twelve months ended March 31, 2002. For the twelve months ending March 31, 2003, the Company agreed to pay Greenbelt \$60,000 in cash and issue 100,000 common shares. At December 31, 2002, \$131,250 was included in accounts payable related to services rendered through December 31, 2002. During the first quarter of 2003, this obligation was settled through the payment of \$15,000 and issuance of 75,000 common shares. The Company recorded expense of \$53,750 related to services rendered by Greenbelt under this agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2003. On March 31, 2003, the Company issued 25,000 shares valued at \$38,750 (\$1.55 per share) in accordance with the agreement leaving an unpaid balance of \$15,000 included in accounts payable. This obligation was settled through the payment of cash in April 2003. During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company reached a verbal understanding with Greenbelt to renew the agreement through March 2004. Pursuant to this arrangement, the Company will issue 80,000 common shares and \$90,000 to Greenbelt. A

written agreement will be executed during the third quarter. The Company recorded expense of \$62,500 for services rendered during the three months ended June 30, 2003.

5. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic earnings (loss) per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings (loss) per share reflects the potential dilution from securities and other contracts which are exercisable or convertible into common shares. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2003 and June 30, 2002, options to purchase 863,367 and 387,701 common shares, and warrants to purchase 751,019 and 883,561 common shares were excluded from the computation of earnings (loss) per share as their inclusion would be antidilutive. As a result, there is no difference between basic and diluted calculations of loss per share for all periods presented.

6. GAIN CONTINGENCY

On June 23, 2003, BioTime Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Paul Segall passed away. The Company has maintained a key man life insurance policy on the life of Dr. Segall in the amount of \$1 million. The Company has submitted the necessary claim forms and documentation to the insurance company, and expects to be able to collect the insurance benefits shortly, and also expects to be able to recognize the gain from this claim in the third quarter. To address the business needs created by the loss of Dr. Segall, the Company has created the Office of the President, a three-person executive "office" comprised of the three remaining founders: Dr. Hal Sternberg, Dr. Harold Waitz, and Judith Segall. The Office of the President is charged with assuming those executive duties previously attended to by Paul Segall. BioTime believes that the Office of the President has provided a management transition without entailing additional operating costs. The appointment of a new chief executive officer from outside its present management team could entail additional executive compensation costs that would be burdensome on the Company and could require the curtailment of other operating expenses in order to comply with the cash payment restrictions imposed by the Series 2001-A debentures. Accordingly, so long as the Office of the President meets the Company's needs, the Company will defer appointing a new chief executive officer until its cash flow improves and it obtains sufficient new capital to finance the additional executive compensation expenses. It is not possible to determine what impact, if any, this will have on BioTime's operations. Scientific concerns of the Company, such as product development and laboratory research, will continue to be addressed primarily by Dr. Sternberg, the Vice-President of Research, who worked very closely with Paul Segall for many years on all matters of scientific import and strategy.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Since its inception in November 1990, the Company has been engaged primarily in research and development activities which have culminated in the commercial launch of Hextend,® its lead product, and a clinical trial of PentaLyte®. The Company's operating revenues have been generated primarily from licensing fees and royalties, including \$2,500,000 of licensing fees received from Abbott Laboratories for the right to manufacture and market Hextend in the United States and Canada and \$500,000 of licensing fees received from CJ Corp. for the right to manufacture and market Hextend and PentaLyte in the Republic of Korea. As a result of the developmental nature of its business and the limited sales of its product, since the Company's inception in November 1990 it has incurred \$35,121,171 of losses. During the six months ended June 30, 2003 the Company had an operating loss of \$1,506,001. The Company's ability to generate substantial operating revenue depends upon its success in developing and marketing or licensing its plasma volume expanders and organ preservation solutions and technology for medical use.

Most of the Company's research and development efforts have been devoted to the Company's first three blood volume replacement products: Hextend, PentaLyte, and HetaCool,® By testing and bringing all three products to the market, BioTime believes it can increase its market share by providing the medical community with solutions to match patients' needs. By developing technology for the use of HetaCool in low temperature surgery, trauma care, and organ and tissue transplant surgery, BioTime may also create new market niches for its product line.

The Company's first product, Hextend, is a physiologically balanced blood plasma volume expander, for the treatment of hypovolemia. Hypovolemia is a condition caused by low blood volume, often from blood loss during surgery or from injury. Hextend maintains circulatory system fluid volume and blood pressure and keeps vital organs perfused during surgery. Hextend is being sold in the United States by Abbott Laboratories under an exclusive license from the Company. Abbott also has the right to sell Hextend in Canada, where it has been approved for sale, and product launch is expected shortly. Abbott also has a right to obtain licenses to manufacture and sell other BioTime products in the United States and Canada, and BioTime would receive additional license fees if those options are exercised, in addition to royalties on subsequent sales of those products.

During March 2003, BioTime granted to CJ Corp. an exclusive license to manufacture and sell Hextend and PentaLyte in South Korea (the "CJ Agreement"). Under the CJ Agreement, CJ agreed to pay the Company a license fee of \$800,000, payable in two installments. The first installment of \$500,000, less \$80,000 of Korean taxes withheld, was paid to the Company during April 2003. In connection with this agreement, the Company paid a finder's fee of \$50,000 to an

unrelated third party. The license fee of \$500,000, less the \$50,000 finder's fee, has been deferred and will be recognized as revenue over the life of the contract, which has been estimated to be approximately eight years based on the current expected life of the governing patent covering the Company's products in Korea. The remaining \$300,000 is payable within 30 days after an application for regulatory approval to manufacture and market Hextend is filed in Korea. In addition to the license fees, CJ will pay the Company a royalty on sales of the licensed products. The royalty will range from \$1.30 to \$2.60 per 500 ml unit of product sold, depending upon the price approved by Korea's National Health Insurance, but CJ Corp. will have to obtain regulatory approval before sales can begin. CJ will be responsible for obtaining the regulatory approvals required to manufacture and market Hextend and PentaLyte, including conducting any clinical trials that may be required, and will bear all related costs and expenses.

BioTime has retained all rights to manufacture, sell or license Hextend, PentaLyte, HetaCool, and other products in all other countries. BioTime and certain pharmaceutical companies are discussing and negotiating potential manufacturing, distributing and marketing agreements for BioTime products in the rest of the world.

Under its License Agreement with the Company, Abbott reports sales of Hextend and pays the Company the royalties and license fees due on account of those sales within 90 days after the end of each calendar quarter. The Company recognizes those revenues in the quarter in which the sales report is received, rather than the quarter in which the sales took place, as the Company does not have sufficient sales history to accurately predict quarterly sales. Hextend sales are still in the ramp-up phase. Revenues for the three months ended June 30, 2003 consist of royalties on sales made by Abbott during the period beginning January 1, 2003 and ending March 31, 2003. Royalty revenues recognized for that three month period were \$83,234, a 36.9% increase over the \$60,812 of royalty revenue during the same period last year. Royalty revenues for the first six months of 2003 were \$179,856, which represents an increase of 52.4% over royalties of \$118,047 earned during the same period last year.

During July 2003, BioTime received \$95,807 in royalties from Abbott, based on Hextend sales during the three months ended June 30, 2003. This represents an increase of 11.6% over royalties of \$85,843 received during the same period last year. This revenue will be recognized during the third quarter of 2003.

Hextend has become the standard plasma volume expander at a number of prominent teaching hospitals and leading medical centers. BioTime believes that as Hextend use proliferates within the leading US hospitals, other smaller hospitals will follow their lead and accelerate sales growth. Hextend is used overseas by the United States Armed Forces and has been designated the volume expander of choice as the primary fluid for military pre-hospital resuscitation by the United States Army Medical Department in their algorithm for combat fluid resuscitation.

The Company has completed a Phase I clinical trial of PentaLyte and is planning the next phase of its clinical trials in which PentaLyte will be used to treat hypovolemia in surgery. BioTime has spent approximately \$2,000,000 in direct costs through June 30, 2003 developing PentaLyte, although no monies were spent for such development during the three months ended June 30, 2003. The Company's ability to commence and complete additional clinical studies of PentaLyte

depends on its cash resources and the costs involved, which are not presently determinable. Clinical trials of PentaLyte in the United States may take longer and may be more costly than our Hextend clinical trials, which cost approximately \$3,000,000. The FDA permitted the Company to proceed directly into a Phase III clinical trial of Hextend involving only 120 patients because the active ingredients in Hextend had already been approved for use by the FDA in other products. Because PentaLyte contains a starch that has not been approved by the FDA for use in a plasma volume expander, the Company had to complete a Phase I clinical trial of PentaLyte, may have to complete a Phase III clinical trial in addition to a Phase III trial, or may have to complete a combined Phase III/Phase III trial, that will involve more patients than the Hextend trials. The Company estimates that the Phase II trial that it is planning could be undertaken for approximately \$1,500,000, but it does not yet know the actual scope or cost of the clinical trials that the FDA will require for PentaLyte or the other products BioTime is developing.

Plasma volume expanders and other products containing a starch similar to that used in PentaLyte have been approved for use in certain foreign countries. The regulatory agencies in those countries may be willing to accept applications for regulatory approval of PentaLyte based upon clinical trials smaller in scope than those that may be required by the FDA. This would permit BioTime to bring PentaLyte to market overseas more quickly than in the United States, provided that suitable licensing arrangements can be made with foreign pharmaceutical companies to obtain financing for clinical trials and manufacturing and marketing arrangements.

The Company is also continuing to develop solutions for low temperature surgery. A number of physicians have reported using Hextend to treat hypovolemia under mild hypothermic conditions during cardiac surgery. Additional cardiac surgeries have been performed at deeper hypothermic temperatures. Once a sufficient amount of data from successful low temperature surgery has been compiled, the Company plans to seek permission to use Hextend as a complete replacement for blood under near-freezing conditions. BioTime currently plans to market Hextend for complete blood volume replacement at very low temperatures under the trademark "HetaCool" if FDA approval is obtained.

In February, 2001, BioTime launched a research program using HetaCool in animal models of trauma at the State University of New York Health Science Center in Brooklyn. Preliminary laboratory results there have already supported the feasibility of using HetaCool to treat subjects following severe hemorrhage. The use of HetaCool at near-freezing temperatures also will be studied in animal models of cardiovascular surgery at the Texas Heart Institute in Houston. The project has been approved by the appropriate internal committees, and is awaiting the beginning of experimentation.

BioTime has spent approximately \$1,620,000 through June 30, 2003 developing HetaCool, including approximately \$20,000 that was spent for such development during the three months ended June 30, 2003. These costs do not include the cost of developing Hextend, upon which HetaCool is based. BioTime scientists believe that the HetaCool program has the potential to produce a product that could be used in very high fluid volumes (50 liters or more per procedure if HetaCool were used as an organ preservation solution or to temporarily replace substantially all of the patient's circulating blood volume) in cardiovascular surgery, trauma treatment, and

organ transplantation. However, the cost and time to complete the development of HetaCool, including clinical trials, cannot be presently determined.

Until such time as BioTime is able to complete the development of PentaLyte and HetaCool and to enter into commercial license agreements for those products and additional foreign commercial license agreements for Hextend, BioTime will depend upon royalties from the sale of Hextend by Abbott Laboratories, and by CJ once product sales have commenced in Korea, as its principal source of revenues.

The amount and pace of research and development work that BioTime can do or sponsor, and BioTime's ability to commence and complete clinical trials required to obtain FDA and foreign regulatory approval of products, depends upon the amount of money BioTime has. Future research and clinical study costs are not presently determinable due to many factors, including the inherent uncertainty of those costs and the uncertainty as to the timing, source, and amount of capital that will become available for those projects. The Company has already curtailed the pace of its product development efforts due to the limited amount of funds available, and it may have to postpone further laboratory and clinical studies, unless its cash resources increase through a growth in revenues, additional equity investment, borrowing, or third party sponsorship.

The Company also recently lost the services and contributions of Dr. Paul Segall, a founder of BioTime, and its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer until the time of his death. To address the business needs created by the loss of Dr. Segall, the Company has created the Office of the President, a three-person executive "office" comprised of the remaining three founders: Dr. Hal Sternberg, Dr. Harold Waitz, and Judith Segall. The Office of the President is charged with assuming those executive duties previously attended to by Paul Segall. BioTime believes that the Office of the President has provided a smooth management transition without entailing additional operating costs. The appointment of a new chief executive officer from outside its present management team could entail additional executive compensation costs that would be burdensome on the Company and could require the curtailment of other operating expenses in order to comply with the cash payment restrictions imposed by the Series 2001-A debentures. Accordingly, so long as the Office of the President meets the Company's needs, the Company will defer appointing a new chief executive officer until its cash flow improves and it obtains sufficient new capital to finance the additional executive compensation expenses. It is not possible to determine what impact, if any, this will have on BioTime's operations. Scientific concerns of the Company, such as product development and laboratory research, will continue to be addressed primarily by Dr. Sternberg, the Vice-President of Research, who worked very closely with Paul Segall for many years on all matters of scientific import and strategy.

Because the Company's research and development expenses, clinical trial expenses, and production and marketing expenses will be charged against earnings for financial reporting purposes, management expects that there will be losses during the foreseeable future.

Hextend, PentaLyte, HetaCool and HetaFreeze® are registered trademarks, of BioTime.

Results of Operations

Revenues

From inception (November 30, 1990) through June 30, 2003, the Company recognized \$2,514,063 of license fee revenues. All license fees based upon milestones under the Abbott License Agreement were earned prior to the quarter ended June 30, 2003. Revenues from the license fees received from CJ Corp. are being recognized on a deferred basis over the life of the contract, which has been estimated to be approximately eight years based on the current expected life of the governing patent covering the Company's products in Korea. See Note 2 to the accompanying condensed financial statements for more detailed discussion of the Company's revenue recognition policy.

From inception (November 30, 1990) through June 30, 2003, the Company has recognized \$736,906 in royalty revenue based on product sales. For the three months ended June 30, 2003, the company recognized \$83,234 in royalty revenue, whereas the Company recognized \$60,812 for the three months ended June 30, 2002, an increase of 36.9%. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, the Company recognized \$179,856 in royalty revenue, as compared to \$118,047 recognized in the six months ended June 30, 2002, which constitutes an increase of 52.4%. These increases are attributable to an increase in product sales by Abbott.

Operating Expenses

From inception (November 30, 1990) through June 30, 2003, the company incurred \$23,170,148 of research and development expenses. Research and development expenses were \$211,604 for the three months ended June 30, 2003, compared to \$343,473 for the three months ended June 30, 2002. This decrease is chiefly attributable to a decrease in research and development salaries of \$54,250 due to reductions in both number of employees and applicable employee pay rates, a decrease in payroll taxes of \$2,047, a decrease in insurance costs allocated to research and development of \$47,290, a decrease in miscellaneous research and development costs of \$22,112, and a decrease in amounts paid to scientific consultants of \$40,018. This decrease was offset to some extent by an increase of \$11,109 in amounts paid for laboratory supplies and expenses. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, research and development expenses decreased to \$436,140 compared to \$638,423 for the six months ended June 30, 2002. The primary components of this decrease were a decrease in insurance costs allocated to research and development of \$62,343 and a decrease in research and development-related salaries in the amount of \$102,699; these decreases were offset to some extent by increases in spending for laboratory work and supplies adding up to approximately \$13,000, and there were several other smaller changes in various areas of spending. Research and development expenses include laboratory study expenses, salaries, ongoing prosecution of regulatory applications in the United States and Europe, and consultants' fees. The Company expects that research and development expenses will increase if the Company obtains sufficient capital to commence new clinical studies of its products in the United States and Europe.

From inception (November 30, 1990) through June 30, 2003, the Company incurred \$15,462,221 of general and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased to

\$378,567 for the three months ended June 30, 2003 from \$290,627 for the three months ended June 30, 2002. This increase is chiefly attributable to an increase in expenditures for general and administrative consulting of \$67,549, an increase in salaries related to general and administrative work in the amount of \$36,707, an increase in travel expenses of \$30,747, and an increase in printing costs of \$16,937. These increases were offset somewhat by a decrease in legal and accounting fees in the amount of \$35,564 and a decrease in the amount spent on investor/public relations in the amount of \$10,526. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, general and administrative expenses increased to \$716,335 from the \$622,034 spent for general and administrative costs in the six months ended June 30, 2002. The primary components of this increase were an overall increase in legal and accounting fees in the amount of \$122,113, an increase in printing costs of \$14,824, an increase in travel expenses of \$12,389, an increase in general and administrative consulting fees of \$25,467, and an increase in assorted other general and administrative costs in the amount of \$9,371. These increases were offset to some extent by a decrease in patent and trademark expenses of \$86,955.

Interest and Other Income

From inception (November 30, 1990) through June 30, 2003, the Company generated \$308,370 of net interest and other income. For the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company incurred a total of \$264,319 of net interest expense, compared to net interest expense of \$215,349 for the three months ended June 30, 2002. The difference is attributable to an increase in the accretion recorded on the Company's debentures due to the issuance of additional warrants to certain debenture holders in exchange for the PIK Rights discussed in Note 3 to the Financial Statements. During the three months ended June 30, 2003, the Company also recognized revenues from sales of microcannulas in the amount of \$4,841 as compared to \$5,456 for microcannula sales for the three months ended June 30, 2002. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, the Company incurred a total of \$486,882 of net interest expense compared to \$387,014 incurred in the six months ended June 30, 2002. This difference is again attributable to the increase in the accretion recorded on the Company's debentures due to the issuance of additional warrants to certain debenture holders in exchange for the PIK Rights discussed in Note 3 to the Financial Statements. For the six months ended June 30, 2003, the company also recognized revenues from sales of microcannulas in the amount of \$21,957, an increase from the \$5,456 recognized in the six months ended June 30, 2002; this difference is due simply to an increase in sales during the first quarter of 2003.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of June 30, 2003, the Company had \$650,395 of cash and cash equivalents on hand. The Company has filed a claim under its \$1,000,000 key man life insurance policy following the death of Company Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Paul Segall. The Company has submitted the necessary claim forms and documentation to the insurance company, and expects to be able to collect the insurance benefits shortly, and also expects to be able to recognize the gain from this claim in the third quarter. At the current rate of spending, the Company estimates that existing cash on hand, plus expected insurance benefits, along with license fees receivable and anticipated royalties from Abbott, will last approximately 12 months. As discussed below, the Company is also obligated to pay debentures of \$3.35 million in August 2004. Since

inception, the Company has primarily financed its operations through the sale of equity securities, licensing fees, and borrowings.

During April 2003, the Company received the initial \$500,000 license fee payment, less \$80,000 of Korean taxes withheld, from CJ under the CJ Agreement. The Company paid a finder's fee of \$50,000 from the proceeds. A second installment of \$300,000 will be payable by CJ to the Company 30 days after it submits an application for regulatory approval of Hextend in South Korea.

On August 12, 2002, BioTime completed a private placement of 1,852,785 common shares for \$2,075,119 (\$1,764,670 net proceeds after cash placement fees of \$310,449) through Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc. The Company has registered these shares for sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. In connection with the offering, and in addition to the placement fees referred to above, the Company granted to Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc., warrants to purchase 129,695 common shares at an exercise price of \$1.34 per share. The warrants are fully vested and non-forfeitable, and expire on August 11, 2007.

During August 2001, the Company received cash and converted debt totaling \$3,350,000 through the sale of debentures to a group of private investors, including Alfred D. Kingsley, an investor and consultant to the Company, who purchased \$1,500,000 of debentures, and Milton Dresner, a director of the Company. Mr. Kingsley's investment included the conversion of the \$1,000,000 principal balance of a line of credit that he had previously provided.

Interest on the debentures is payable at an annual rate of 10% and is payable semiannually. The principal amount of the debentures will be due and payable on August 1, 2004. BioTime may prepay the debentures, in whole or in part, at any time without premium or penalty. Under the terms of the debentures BioTime has agreed to restrict its quarterly cash payments for operating expenses to not more than \$450,000 (excluding interest payable on the debentures) plus the amount of cash revenues (excluding interest and dividends) it collects for the quarter. To the extent BioTime's expenditures during any quarter are less than \$450,000 over its revenues, it may expend the difference in one or more subsequent quarters. The spending restriction will expire when BioTime obtains at least \$5,000,000 in cash through sales of equity securities or pays off the debenture indebtedness in full. For this purpose, cash revenues will include royalties, license fees, and other proceeds from the sale or licensing of its products and technology, but will not include interest, dividends, and any monies borrowed or the proceeds from the issue or sale of any debt or equity securities. BioTime has also agreed not to declare or pay any cash dividends on its capital stock or to redeem or repurchase any shares of its capital stock, until it has paid off the debenture indebtedness in full.

As part of the Company's plan to manage its cash resources, during April 2003, holders of \$2,750,000 principal amount of the debentures granted BioTime a "pay in kind" right allowing (but not requiring) BioTime to make interest payments in common shares instead of cash for the interest payments due during August 2003 and February 2004 (the "PIK Right"). BioTime retained the right to pay the interest due in cash.

Each debenture holder who agreed to grant BioTime the PIK Right received a three-year warrant entitling the holder to purchase BioTime common shares for \$1.50 per share. The number of

shares covered by the warrants is the amount of debenture interest due in August 2003 and February 2004 divided by the \$1.50 exercise price. In addition, Alfred Kingsley has agreed with BioTime that if BioTime exercises the PIK right he will provide BioTime with the cash required to pay the interest due on any debentures held by persons who did not grant BioTime the PIK Right. In consideration of his agreement to do so, BioTime issued to Mr. Kingsley a warrant for 39,999 additional common shares, which is the amount of warrants that would have been issued had the debenture holders who did not grant BioTime the PIK Right, instead agreed to do so. When Mr. Kingsley provides BioTime with the cash to pay the interest due, he will receive the number of shares that the debenture holders would have received had they accepted stock in lieu of cash interest payments. Warrants to purchase a total of 223,331 common shares were issued to participating debenture holders, including Alfred Kingsley.

The warrants will expire in three years and will not be exercisable thereafter. The warrants will be redeemable by BioTime at \$0.05 per warrant share if the closing price of the common shares on the American Stock Exchange exceeds 200% of the exercise price for 20 consecutive trading days.

If BioTime actually elects to pay interest in stock instead of cash, the common shares issued on the interest payment date will be valued at the lower of (a) \$1.20 or (b) 80% of the average closing price of BioTime common shares on the AMEX for the 10 trading days prior to the interest payment date, but not less than \$0.80 per share.

BioTime granted registration rights for the warrants and shares on substantially the same terms as the registration rights covering the warrants issued when the debentures were originally sold. All prices and share amounts will be adjusted for any stock splits, reverse splits, recapitalization, or similar changes to the common shares.

During August 2001, investors who purchased the debentures also received warrants to purchase a total of 515,383 common shares at an exercise price of \$6.50 per share. The warrants will expire if not exercised by August 1, 2004. Since the end of June 2002, the Company has had the right to call the warrants for redemption at a redemption price of \$0.01 per share if the closing price of the Company's common shares on the American Stock Exchange equals or exceeds 150% of the exercise price for fifteen (15) consecutive trading days and the shares issuable upon the exercise of the warrants have been registered for sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

BioTime will need to obtain additional equity capital from time to time in the future, as long as the fees it receives from licensing its products to pharmaceutical companies, profits from sales of its products, and royalty revenues are not sufficient to fund its operations and pay off the \$3.35 million of debentures in August 2004. Sales of additional equity securities could result in the dilution of the interests of present shareholders. The amount of license fees and royalties that may be earned through the licensing and sale of the Company's products and technology, the timing of the receipt of license fee payments, and the future availability and terms of equity financing, are uncertain. The unavailability or inadequacy of financing or revenues to meet future capital needs could force the Company to modify, curtail, delay or suspend some or all aspects of its planned operations.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

The Company did not hold any market risk sensitive instruments as of June 30, 2003, December 31, 2002, or June 30, 2002. The Company's debentures bear interest at a fixed rate of 10%. Changes in interest rates would affect the fair value of the debentures, but such changes would not affect future cash flows.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, including its principal executive officers and its principal financial officer, have reviewed and evaluated the Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2003. Following this review and evaluation, management has collectively determined that the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are sufficient to ensure that material information relating to the Company with respect to the period covered by this report was made known to them.

However, management has also identified a material weakness in its accounting and reporting functions stemming from the performance and supervision of its out-sourced accounting personnel. Management has committed itself to take action to improve its internal control structure.

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no significant changes to the Company's internal controls over financial reporting during the second quarter or in other factors that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, these controls subsequent to the date of the review by the Chief Executive Officers and Chief Financial Officer.

Following the review and evaluation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, management has committed itself to take several steps that it feels are necessary to strengthen its accounting and reporting functions. The Company out-sources its accounting functions and does not have full-time accounting personnel. Management has determined that tighter control and supervision over its out-sourced accounting personnel is required to ensure that financial statements are prepared correctly and in a timely manner. The Company also plans on conducting more frequent internal reviews and reconciliations of financial information, and to improve its budgeting process. The Company has acquired and transitioned to the use of new accounting software that it believes will facilitate implementation of accounting reviews and reconciliations and budgeting.

PART II — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports of Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits.

Exhibit Numbers	Description
3.1	Articles of Incorporation, as Amended.†
3.3	By-Laws, As Amended.#
4.1	Specimen of Common Share Certificate.+
10.1	Lease Agreement dated July 1, 1994 between the Registrant and Robert and Norah Brower, relating to principal executive offices of the Registrant.*
10.2	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Paul Segall.+
10.3	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Hal Sternberg.+
10.4	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Harold Waitz.+
10.5	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Judith Segall.+
10.6	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Steven Seinberg.**
10.7	Agreement between CMSI and BioTime Officers Releasing Employment Agreements, Selling Shares, and Transferring Non-Exclusive License.+
10.8	Agreement for Trans Time, Inc. to Exchange CMSI Common Stock for BioTime, Inc. Common Shares.+
10.9	2002 Stock Option Plan, as amended.##
10.10	Addenda to Lease Agreement between the Company and Donn Logan.‡
10.11	Exclusive License Agreement between Abbott Laboratories and BioTime, Inc. (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment).###
10.12	Modification of Exclusive License Agreement between Abbott Laboratories and BioTime, Inc. (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment).
10.13	Revolving Line of Credit Agreement, dated March 27, 2001, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.††
10.14	Warrant Agreement, dated March 27, 2001, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.††
	24

Exhibit Numbers	Description
10.15	Form of Series 2001-A 10% Debenture due August 1, 2004.‡‡
10.16	Warrant Agreement between BioTime, Inc. and Purchasers of Series 2001-A Debentures.‡‡
10.17	Revolving Line of Credit Agreement, dated March 27, 2002, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.####
10.18	Warrant Agreement, dated March 27, 2002, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.####
10.19	Warrant for the Purchase of Common Shares, dated August 12, 2002, issued to Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.***
10.20	Exclusive License Agreement between BioTime, Inc. and CJ Corp.****
10.21	Warrant Agreement, dated April 9, 2003, between BioTime, Inc. and certain holders of Series 2001-A Debentures.****
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications.^^^^
32	Section 1350 Certifications.^^^

† Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File Number 33-48717 and Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 thereto filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 22, 1992, and August 27, 1992, respectively.

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-8, File Number 333-101651 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 4, 2002.

^ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1999.

⁺ Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File Number 33-44549 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 18, 1991, and Amendment No. 1 and Amendment No. 2 thereto filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 6, 1992 and March 7, 1992, respectively.

^{*} Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1994.

[^] Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997.

- ### Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 8-K, filed April 24, 1997.
- ^^^ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999.
- ‡ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999.
- †† Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.
- ‡‡ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.
- ** Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.
- *** Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
- **** Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K/A-1 for the year ended December 31, 2002.
- ^^^ Filed herewith.
- (b) Reports on Form 8-K

The Company filed a report on Form 8-K on June 26, 2003, to disclose the death of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Paul Segall.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BIOTIME, INC.

Date: August 14, 2003	/s/Judith Segall
	Judith Segall
	Vice-President – Operations
	Member, Office of the President*
	/s/Hal Sternberg
_	Hal Sternberg
	Vice-President – Research
	Member, Office of the President*
	/s/Harold Waitz
_	Harold Waitz
	Vice-President – Regulatory Affairs
	Member, Office of the President*
_	/s/Steven Seinberg
Date: August 14, 2003	Steven Seinberg

^{*} The Office of the President is comprised of the three above-referenced executive officers of the Company who collectively exercise the powers of the Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit Index

Exhibit Numbers	Description
3.1	Articles of Incorporation, as Amended.†
3.3	By-Laws, As Amended.#
4.1	Specimen of Common Share Certificate.+
10.1	Lease Agreement dated July 1, 1994 between the Registrant and Robert and Norah Brower, relating to principal executive offices of the Registrant.*
10.2	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Paul Segall.+
10.3	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Hal Sternberg.+
10.4	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Harold Waitz.+
10.5	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Judith Segall.+
10.6	Intellectual Property Agreement between the Company and Steven Seinberg.**
10.7	Agreement between CMSI and BioTime Officers Releasing Employment Agreements, Selling Shares, and Transferring Non-Exclusive License.+
10.8	Agreement for Trans Time, Inc. to Exchange CMSI Common Stock for BioTime, Inc. Common Shares.+
10.9	2002 Stock Option Plan, as amended.##
10.10	Addenda to Lease Agreement between the Company and Donn Logan.‡
10.11	Exclusive License Agreement between Abbott Laboratories and BioTime, Inc. (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment).###
10.12	Modification of Exclusive License Agreement between Abbott Laboratories and BioTime, Inc. (Portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment).^^^
10.13	Revolving Line of Credit Agreement, dated March 27, 2001, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.††
10.14	Warrant Agreement, dated March 27, 2001, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.††
	28

Exhibit Numbers	Description
10.15	Form of Series 2001-A 10% Debenture due August 1, 2004.‡‡
10.16	Warrant Agreement between BioTime, Inc. and Purchasers of Series 2001-A Debentures.‡‡
10.17	Revolving Line of Credit Agreement, dated March 27, 2002, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.####
10.18	Warrant Agreement, dated March 27, 2002, between BioTime, Inc. and Alfred D. Kingsley.####
10.19	Warrant for the Purchase of Common Shares, dated August 12, 2002, issued to Ladenburg Thalmann & Co. Inc.***
10.20	Exclusive License Agreement between BioTime, Inc. and CJ Corp.****
10.21	Warrant Agreement, dated April 9, 2003, between BioTime, Inc. and certain holders of Series 2001-A Debentures.****
31	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications.^^^
32	Section 1350 Certifications.^^^

† Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998.

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File Number 33-48717 and Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 thereto filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on June 22, 1992, and August 27, 1992, respectively.

Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-8, File Number 333-101651 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 4, 2002.

^^ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1999.

⁺ Incorporated by reference to Registration Statement on Form S-1, File Number 33-44549 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 18, 1991, and Amendment No. 1 and Amendment No. 2 thereto filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 6, 1992 and March 7, 1992, respectively.

^{*} Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1994.^ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1997.

- ### Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 8-K, filed April 24, 1997.
- ^^^ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999.
- ‡ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999.
- †† Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000.
- ‡‡ Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2001.
- ** Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001.
- ***Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002.
- **** Incorporated by reference to the Company's Form 10-K/A-1 for the year ended December 31, 2002.
- ^^^^ Filed herewith.

CERTIFICATIONS Exhibit 31

I, Judith Segall, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) [Omitted
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such evaluation;
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Jata.	August	1/	2002
Jale:	August	14,	2003

/s/ Judith Segall

Judith Segall
Vice-President – Operations
Member, Office of the President*

* The Office of the President is comprised of the three executive officers of the registrant who collectively exercise the powers of the Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Hal Sternberg, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) [Omitted]
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such evaluation;
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or n financial reporting.	not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
Date: August 14, 2003	/s/ Hal Sternberg

Hal Sternberg

Vice-President – Research Member, Office of the President*

* The Office of the President is comprised of the three executive officers of the registrant who collectively exercise the powers of the Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Harold Waitz, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this quarterly report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) [Omitted]
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report, based on such evaluation;
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to

adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 14, 2003		
-	/s/ Harold Waitz	

Harold Waitz Vice-President – Regulatory Affairs Member, Office of the President*

* The Office of the President is comprised of the three executive officers of the registrant who collectively exercise the powers of the Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of BioTime, Inc. (the "Company") for the quarter ended March 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), we, Judith Segall, Hal Sternberg, and Harold Waitz, collectively the Office of the President, and Steven A. Seinberg, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: August 14, 2003

/s/ Judith Segall

Judith Segall
Vice-President – Operations
Member, Office of the President*

/s/ Hal Sternberg

Hal Sternberg Vice-President – Research Member, Office of the President*

/s/ Harold Waitz

Harold Waitz Vice-President – Regulatory Affairs Member, Office of the President*

/s/ Steven A. Seinberg

Steven A. Seinberg Chief Financial Officer

^{*} The Office of the President is comprised of the three above-referenced executives of the Company who collectively exercise the powers of the Chief Executive Officer